### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 92,234

#### LEO ALEXANDER JONES,

Appellant,

V.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Florida Bar No. 0754773 Litigation Director

Office of the CCRC - South 1444 Biscayne Boulevard, Suite 202 Miami, Florida 33 132 (305) 377 -7580 Attorney for Mr. Jones

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr. Jones' motion for post-conviction relief. The motion was brought pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Jones was convicted of first-degree murder in the circuit court of the Fourth Judicial Circuit, Duval County, and sentenced to death. This Court affirmed on direct appeal. Jones v. State, 440 So. 2d 570 (Fla. 1983). Mr. Jones filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in this Court on February 1, 1985, and was denied on June 13, 1985. Jones\_ v. Wainwright, 473 So. 2d 1244 (Fla. 1985). On October 8, 1985, Mr. Jones filed a Rule 3.850 motion. After an evidentiary hearing on Mr. Jones' claim that his trial attorney rendered ineffective assistance, the motion was denied. The denial was affirmed by this Court. Jones v. State, 528 So. 2d 1171 (Fla. 1988).

On September 12, 1988, the Governor signed a death warrant, setting Mr. Jones' execution for November 14, 1988. Mr. Jones filed his second state habeas petition. Mr. Jones' state habeas petition was denied on November 10, 1988. Jones v. Dugger, 533 So. 2d 290 (Fla. 1988). On November 14, 1988, Mr. Jones filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the District Court for the Middle District of Florida. The District Court issued a stay of execution. Mr. Jones' federal habeas petition was denied on June 28, 1989, and affirmed on appeal. Jones v. Dugger, 928 F.2d 1020 (11th Cir. 1991), cert. denied, 502 U.S. 875 (1991).

The Governor signed a second death warrant on October 16, 1991, setting Mr. Jones' execution for November 13, 199 1. Mr. Jones filed his second Rule 3.850 motion on November 8, 1991; the motion was denied on November 10th. This Court entered a stay of execution, reversed and remanded for an evidentiary hearing on Mr. Jones' newly discovered evidence of innocence claim. Jones v. State, 591 So. 2d 911 (Fla. 1991). The circuit court

conducted an evidentiary hearing in September 1992 and denied relief on December 11, 1992. The denial was affirmed on appeal. Jones v. State, 678 So. 2d 309 (Fla. 1996). Certiorari was denied on February 24, 1997. Jones v. Florida, 117 S. Ct. 1088 (1997).

On March 11, 1997, Governor Chiles signed Mr. Jones' third death warrant designating April 10 through April 17, 1997, as the warrant week. Mr. Jones' execution was scheduled for April 15, 1997. On April 3, 1997, Mr. Jones filed a petition in this Court seeking to invoke this Court's all writs jurisdiction, claiming that execution in Florida's electric chair constitutes cruel and unusual punishment. On April 10, 1997, this Court stayed Mr. Jones' execution and ordered an evidentiary hearing in circuit court. Jones v. Butterworth, 691 So. 2d 481 (Fla. 1997). Following a hearing that was held from April 15 through April 18, 1997, the circuit court denied Mr. Jones' claim. On April 21, 1997, this Court stayed Mr. Jones' execution pending further notice and scheduled oral arguments on Mr. Jones' appeal from the circuit court ruling. On May 22, 1997, this Court relinquished jurisdiction and ordered a supplemental hearing on Mr. Jones' claim that execution in Florida's electric chair constitutes cruel and unusual punishment. Jones v. Butterworth, 695 So. 2d 679 (Fla. 1997). The circuit court held a hearing from July 9 through July 15, 1997. On July 18, 1997, the circuit court denied Mr. Jones' claim. After oral arguments before this Court on September 8, 1997, this Court affirmed. Jones v. Butterworth, 701 So. 2d 76 (Fla. 1997). Mr. Jones filed a petition for writ of certiorari on January 20, 1998.

5

5

5

9

9

On September 8, 1997, Mr. Jones filed his third Rule 3.850 motion and a motion to disqualify the trial judge, A.C. Soud, from presiding over any further proceedings in this case. In the 3.850, Mr. Jones raised claims based on Judge Soud's failure to disclose his

prior representation of Mr. Jones and based upon a newly discovered eyewitness who exonerated Mr. Jones and implicated Glenn Schofield. Both motions were denied on October 8, 1997. On October 3 1, 1997, Governor Chiles rescheduled Mr. Jones' execution for March 24, 1998. On November 10, 1997, this Court disqualified Judge Soud and ordered that any further proceedings be conducted by Senior Judge Clarence T. Johnson. This Court also scheduled oral argument for February 6, 1998, and directed that any proceedings in the circuit court be expedited.

The circuit court held a hearing from December 15 through December 18, 1997. During the hearing, Mr. Jones was permitted to orally amend the 3.850 with a <u>Bradv</u> claim based upon Cleveland Smith's testimony. Relief was denied on December 3 1, 1997. This appeal follows. Oral argument in this case has been scheduled for February 24, 1998.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

#### A. INTRODUCTION

Leo Jones is innocent of the crime for which he was convicted and sentenced to death, The evidence discovered since his trial establishes that Officer Szafranski was killed by another man, namely Glenn Schofield. Mr. Jones has presented testimony that Mr. Schofield has confessed to killing Officer Szafranski on twelve separate occasions. These confessions are corroborated by the testimony of five witnesses who saw Mr. Schofield on the night of the shooting. Their testimony further incriminates him as the man who killed Officer Szafranski.

On September 8, 1997, Mr. Jones filed his third Rule 3.850 motion presenting more

newly discovered evidence of his innocence. During the evidentiary hearing, he was permitted to orally amend the 3.850 with a newly discovered <u>Brady</u> claim based on the testimony of Cleveland Smith. All of the new evidence is consistent with that presented at both the 1986 and 1992 evidentiary hearings and provides additional support for the admission of Mr. Schofield's hearsay confessions as substantive evidence. This motion to vacate also included a judicial bias claim based on newly discovered evidence that Judge Soud had represented Mr. Jones in 1969, that he failed to make the appropriate disclosure in 1981, and that, as a result, Mr. Jones was denied his right to a fair trial.

At the December 1997 hearing, Mr. Jones presented witnesses who testified that, in the years since Mr. Jones' conviction, Mr. Schofield has confessed to Officer Szafranski's murder.' Mr. Jones also presented previously unavailable witnesses who saw Mr. Schofield on the night of Officer Szafranski's death whose testimony lends additional support to Mr. Jones' argument that he is innocent of this crime. One of these witnesses, Roy Williams, aka "Shorty," is the only known eyewitness to Officer Szafranski's murder. Mr. Jones also presented Cleveland Smith, a retired Jacksonville police officer, who testified that about a week prior to the Szafranski shooting the police who patrolled the area where Officer Szafranski was shot were instructed to do everything in their power to get Jones in jail. Former Deputy Smith also testified that Officer Mundy, the arresting officer, bragged for years about beating the confession out of Mr. Jones and that he entered Mr. Jones' apartment with the intent of killing whomever he found inside. Mr. Jones also presented the testimony

<sup>&#</sup>x27;Judge Johnson refused to permit Mr. Jones to present the testimony of witnesses who had testified at either the 1986 or 1992 hearing.

of Chief Assistant Public Defender Bill White, who testified that Detective Hugh "Eason had witnessed L.F. Mundy beating Leo Jones and had to pull him off. He also told me if I ever told anyone that, that he would deny it if he took the stand." (H. 1143).

At a 1991 hearing concerning Mr. Jones' motion to vacate and request for a stay of execution, the State admitted that the evidence then available, if presented to a jury, "might create a debatable question" about Mr. Jones' guilt (Transcript of November 10, 1991, Hearing, p. 59). The evidence supporting Mr. Jones' innocence now does more than "create a debatable question" or even a reasonable doubt. This evidence definitively proves that Mr. Jones is innocent and that he is facing imminent execution for a crime he did not commit.

#### **B. BACKGROUND**

Mr. Jones was convicted and sentenced to death for the May 23, 198 1, murder of Jacksonville police officer Thomas Szafranski. The murder occurred in Jacksonville at the intersection of Sixth and Davis Streets at about 1:00  $a.m.^2$  Officer Szafranski was driving the third of a trio of police cars leaving a hostage situation near Fifth and Lee Streets (R.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The testimony of the police officers at the scene could not definitively establish the exact location of Officer Szafranski's car when he was shot. Officer Dyal, who was driving the car in front of Officer Szafranski, heard the first shots while he was at the stop sign (R. 710). He then "pulled out -- just out into the intersection to a slight angle" when he heard more shots (R. 718). Officer Dyal's testimony indicates that Officer Szafranski's car would have been at least one car length behind the stop sign when the shots were fired. Officer Wilmoth, who was parked south of the intersection on Davis Street, testified that Officer Szafranski "had pulled up to the stop sign, crept forward and then stopped abruptly," (R. 736), implying that Officer Szafranski was shot while he was stopped at the stop sign. Because the exact location of the car cannot be determined, the triangulation calculations of Mr. Warniment that pinpointed the building, as opposed to the vacant lot, as the origin of the bullet are not reliable; Mr. Warniment admitted at the trial that he could not be certain where the car was located when Officer Szafranski was shot (R. 1068).

708-09). The police were travelling east on Sixth toward Davis where they planned to turn left and travel north toward University Hospital (R. 709-10). Numerous police officers converged on the scene immediately after the shooting (R. 739); however, they were unable to find any eyewitnesses to the shooting. Some people in the area directed the police to a building immediately south of the Sixth and Davis intersection (R. 743). Other witnesses testified at the trial that the shot originated from the vacant lot just north of that building (R. 1162, 1172, 1193).<sup>3</sup>

Police, led by Officer Mundy , began searching the building, and, in an upstairs apartment, they found Mr. Jones and his cousin Bobby Hammonds, who were taken into custody and transported to the Police Memorial Building shortly after one a.m. Mr. Hammonds told the police that he and Mr. Jones had nothing to do with the shooting, while Mr. Jones remained silent (R. 1104-05; 1093-94).<sup>4</sup> Between five and six a.m., Mr. Jones and Mr. Hammonds were taken to University Hospital for treatment of injuries sustained while in police custody (R. 1095). Detective Eason testified that Mr. Jones had only "slight injuries" and that he was taken to the hospital only as a "precautionary measure" (R. 1095). Detective Eason described Mr. Jones' injuries: "Leo Jones had an ear -- some blood trickling from his ear, or it had dried up. He had a bruise on his head and I want to say that he had a busted lip, but I don't remember exactly. It was bruised or something. " (R. 1103).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Two witnesses from the 1986 hearing also testified that the shots were fired from the vacant lot (Transcript of 1986 Evidentiary Hearing, p. 13 1, 176).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Detective Eason testified at Mr. Jones' trial that he did not write down Mr. Hammonds' first statement because he did not believe it (R. 1104). This is the same Hugh Eason who later told Bill White that he had not only seen Officer Mundy beating Leo Jones, but that he had to pull him off Mr. Jones.

However, according to the treating physician, Mr. Jones was at the hospital for an hour and a half and received a full physical examination as well as x-rays (R. 1299, 1305). Officer Mundy testified that Mr. Jones' injuries were inflicted at his apartment when he resisted arrest; however, the testimony on this subject fails to account for injuries serious enough to warrant x-rays four to five hours later. Officer Mundy testified that while he was in the apartment, he heard "scuffling" and noticed Mr. Jones fighting with Officers Butler and Torrible (R. **792**).<sup>5</sup> Officer Torrible testified that he did not recall Officer Mundy hitting Mr. Jones; he explained that "[i]t wasn't much of a scuffle, it was -- he [Jones] was immediately subdued. " (R. **980-81**).<sup>6</sup> Officer Butler did not testify.

H. Randolph Fallin had been retained by Leroy Clark, Mr. Jones' brother, to represent Mr. Jones. Mr. Fallin contacted Detective Frank Japour at approximately five a.m. to inform the police that he represented Mr. Jones and that his client should not be questioned outside his presence (Transcript of 1986 Evidentiary Hearing, pp. 203-04). While they indicated to Mr. Fallin that they understood his request, the police ignored it and continued to question Mr. Jones (Id.). Mr. Fallin arrived at the police station at about nine a.m. but was denied access to Mr. Jones until after the confession had been signed at about noon, after almost eleven hours in police custody (Id. at 205). That confession, which was

<sup>&#</sup>x27;Cleveland Smith, a former Deputy Sheriff, testified in 1997 that Officer Mundy was "like a hit-man on the police department." (220). Former Deputy Smith testified that Mundy was known to falsify reports and had admitted to Smith that he had beaten Leo Jones and had intended to kill him, but "another officer stopped him from doing it." (188).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>In addition to failing to account for the extent of Mr. Jones' injuries, this testimony is directly contradicted by Mr. Hammonds' 1992 affidavit and the 1997 testimony of Cleveland Smith and Bill White.

written by Detective Hugh Eason, contains no details of the crime and indicates that the shots were fired from either "a gun or rifle" (R. 1098-1101).<sup>7</sup>

The only evidence against Mr. Jones at trial was his presence in the Davis Street apartment, the presence of guns in the apartment, Bobby Hammonds' testimony which had previously and has subsequently been recanted,' and Mr. Jones' confession which he later retracted. Mr. Hammonds testified that Mr. Jones left the apartment carrying a rifle shortly after one a.m., that he heard a shot ten or fifteen minutes later, and that Mr. Jones returned to the apartment still carrying a rifle (R. 914-18). In his closing statement, the State Attorney referred to Mr. Hammonds' testimony as "the strongest testimony we've got." (R. 1459).<sup>9</sup>

The State presented evidence to support its theory about Mr. Jones' motive in shooting Officer Szafranski. For example, Officer Ritchey testified that he was present on

<sup>9</sup>This Court has refused to order an evidentiary hearing on Hammonds' 1992 recantation of his trial testimony because the jury knew that he had already recanted once; thus, his testimony was substantially impeached at trial.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Cleveland Smith in a proffer testified that Hugh Eason was known for obtaining detailed confessions, not a two-sentence one as was done here where the confession expresses uncertainty over what the murder weapon was.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Even before Mr. Jones' trial, Mr. Hammonds gave contradictory statements regarding what he saw the night of Officer Szafranski's death. At the suppression hearing, Mr. Hammonds flatly denied seeing Mr. Jones with a rifle and repeatedly testified that he implicated Mr. Jones only because he feared for his life. At the trial, he testified that he lied at the suppression hearing because he was afraid of Mr. Jones' family; however, he testified that threats from the family had been communicated to him by his sister just prior to trial so that they could not possibly have influenced his suppression hearing testimony (R. 943-44, 950). At one point during the suppression hearing, Mr. Hammonds told the State Attorney, "Hey, man, you frightening me, man, " and Judge Soud instructed Mr. Greene to "tone down the delivery of [his] questions, " indicating that Mr. Hammonds feared the police and the State Attorney and the consequences of telling the truth. Mr. Hammonds' 1992 affidavit confirms that he was beaten and coerced by the State into testifying falsely against Mr. Jones.

May 16, 1981, when Mr. Jones was arrested for making an illegal left turn and heard him make threats against the police: "[h]e stated he was tired of the police hassling him, that the police weren't the only ones that had guns and that he was going to shoot him a motherfucking pig." (R. 1142, 1150). Mr. Jones was not charged with making threats against the police that night, and the police reports detailing the arrest make no mention of any threats allegedly made by Mr. Jones (Id.). The only evidence of this statement, aside from the arresting officer's testimony, is an internal police memorandum from Officer Ritchey to Detective Eason that is dated May 23, 1981, a full week after the incident allegedly occurred.<sup>10</sup> This memo states only that "Jones made numerous threats about getting even with the police." Clearly, this memorandum was written after Officer Szafranski's shooting and Mr. Jones' arrest in order to create highly prejudicial motive evidence against Mr. Jones. In addition, during Detective Eason's testimony regarding the questioning of Mr. Jones on May 23, 1981, he attributed the following statement to Mr. Jones: "I'm tired of being fucked with. I go to the store and I'm fucked with, I go down the street, I'm fucked with, my friends are fucked with, my family is fucked with, and I'm tired of policemen fucking with me and I decided I'd kill a policeman and that's why I did it." (R. 1101). Detective Eason did not write this statement in his notes, or even include it in the confession he wrote for Mr. Jones to sign, because he "did not see any need to at that time." (R.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>Cleveland Smith has now revealed that about a week prior to the Szafranski shooting, police officers were instructed at roll call to do everything in their power to put Leo Jones in jail. This testimony casts a new, if not sinister, light upon the trial testimony of the police officers.

1119).<sup>11</sup>

The State also presented evidence implicating Mr. Jones in another shooting at a police officer at the same location one week earlier. Officer Mundy testified about the May 18, 1981, shooting at Officer Scott Carter whose car was hit at the same intersection where Officer Szafranski later died (R. 880-81). Because he was not hit, Officer Carter did not stop his car in the intersection, so the triangulation that was later done was unreliable because the police could only estimate the car's location when the shots were fired (R. 859). Officer Mundy testified that he did a triangulation and determined that the shot that hit Officer Carter's car originated in the vacant apartment across from the intersection (R. 881). Although Judge Soud conceded that "maybe [the triangulation calculations] weren't all that accurate, " he admitted the testimony to explain why Officer Mundy immediately went to that apartment building when he arrived at the scene of Officer Szafranski's shooting (R. 862-63).<sup>12</sup> Significantly, Officer Mundy's own drawings of the triangulation of the bullet that hit Officer Carter's car pinpoint the building next to the one in which Mr. Jones lived, contrary to his testimony at Mr. Jones' trial that the bullet came from the vacant apartment in Mr. Jones' building. Officer Mundy never entered Mr. Jones' building on the occasion of Officer Carter's shooting and he was not listed as a suspect in police notes.<sup>13</sup>

<sup>11</sup>Again, this is the same Hugh Eason who told Bill White that he had to pull Mundy off Jones and that he would deny that fact if ever called to testify.

<sup>12</sup>Of course, trial counsel was unaware of the information recently revealed by Cleveland Smith that shortly before that night the police had been instructed at a roll-call to get Leo Jones.

<sup>13</sup>Officer Mundy had already testified that he suspected that apartment as the origin of the shots because it was a known "stash house," but Judge Soud felt that the State was entitled to tell the jury the full explanation. State Attorney Austin admitted the potential prejudice of The State presented a two-sentence confession that Eason testified he obtained from Leo Jones. This confession was admitted over the defense objection that Leo Jones had been beaten and had signed the confession in fear for his life (R. 1097). Officer Mundy and Detective Eason testified that Jones was not beaten, that his injuries were minor and were a result of Jones attempting to flee (R. 1095).

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