IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA-

FILED

3ID J. WHITE

FEB 13 1998

LEO ALEXANDER JONES,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 92,234

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Cities Deposity Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

RICHARD B. MARTELL Chief, Capital Appeals Florida Bar No. 300179

CURTIS M. FRENCH Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 291692

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS
THE CAPITOL
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050
(850) 414-3300

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

ISSUE II

THERE IS NO MERIT TO JONES' "CUMULATIVE EFFECT" CLAIM AND JONES WAS NOT DENIED A FULL AND FAIR HEARING

Jones argues here that Judge Johnson failed to consider the "cumulative effect of all the evidence not presented at Mr. Jones' trial." Initial Brief of Appellant at 71. Initially, the State does not disagree with the proposition that, as to Jones' newly-discovered-evidence-of-innocence claim, it is appropriate to consider all the legitimate, newly-discovered evidence properly admitted at this hearing, and to compare it to the evidence admitted at trial. This is not a remarkable proposition. However, the State does not agree with Jones' implication that simply because Judge Johnson individually analyzed the testimony of the various witnesses, he failed to consider combined weight of all the "newly-discovered" evidence. First of all, Judge Johnson not only evaluated the testimony of the newly-discovered witnesses individually, he evaluated their "combined" testimony (RI 148).

Moreover, Jones made this same argument on appeal from the denial of his 1991 motion for postconviction relief based on alleged newly-discovered evidence of innocence. As the State argued then, the evidence is the sum of its parts; that Judge Soud had "individually" addressed the testimony was "entirely consistent with the consideration of all the evidence." Answer Brief of Appellee, Florida Supreme Court Case no. 81,346, at p. 46. Court found no merit to Jones' contention that Judge Soud had failed to consider the cumulative effect of the newly discovered evidence, and Jones' claim here is equally without merit. Jones v. <u>State</u>, 678 So.2d 309, 313 fn. 1 (Fla. 1996). See <u>Middleton v.</u> Evatt, 77 F.3d 469 (4th Cir. 1996) (unpublished opinion cited in footnote 50 of Jones' brief on appeal) (implicit in trial court's "exhaustive" review of the record was that "cumulative effect of the evidence was considered, even if the term 'cumulative effect' was not expressly employed").

Jones, however, is not content with arguing merely that evidence properly admitted at this hearing must be considered in toto; in addition, he would have required Judge Johnson weigh "evidence that does not satisfy the newly discovered evidence test" (Motion at p. 4), including affidavits of witnesses who have never testified, testimony that is not newly discovered, testimony that is not substantively admissible, testimony that is not admissible at all, and testimony that is procedurally barred. For this

proposition, he cites State v. Gunsby, 670 So.2d 920 (Fla 1996). Gunsby does not stand for any such proposition. Gunsby dealt with initial 3.850, not a successive one. Thus, neither the effectiveness of trial counsel nor the question of newly-discovered evidence had been previously raised. In considering the testimony of four allegedly newly-discovered witnesses presented at the 3.850, this Court found that, to the extent that at least some of the testimony should have been discovered through due diligence at the time of the trial, trial counsel's performance was deficient. In these "unique" circumstances, it was not necessary to determine whether or not the evidence was admissible as newly-discovered evidence or as evidence of trial counsel's ineffectiveness; it was in any event admissible under either one theory or the other. Gunsby does not even hint, much less hold, that evidence not meeting the test for newly-discovered evidence may be considered 16 years after trial when there is no other basis consideration of such evidence. In this case, unlike Gunsby, any evidence which does not properly qualify as newly-discovered evidence is not admissible under a theory of ineffectiveness of trial counsel; Jones has already had his "full and fair hearing on his claim of ineffectiveness of trial counsel," and any claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to "locate and present witnesses other than those referred to in the first motion for postconviction relief" is procedurally barred, as this Court

already has held. <u>Jones v. State</u>, 591 So.2d 911, 913 (Fla. 1991).

Rule 3.850(b) contains a one-year time limitation for filing motions to vacate judgment and sentence in capital cases. An exception is made for motions based on newly-discovered facts. Rule 3.850(b)(1). Claims filed after the one-year period has elapsed are procedurally barred unless "the facts on which the claim is predicated were unknown to the movant or the movant's attorney and could not have been ascertained by the exercise of due diligence." Henderson v. Singletary, 617 So.2d 313, 316 (fn. 3) (Fla. 1993). Thus, in the previous appeal in this case--in fact, in the very opinion which first formulated the present standard for evaluating claims of newly-discovered evidence of innocence -- this Court held that the use of Paul Marr's testimony about statements allegedly made to him by Glen Schofield were "procedurally barred" because in the 1986 hearing on Jones" first 3.850 motion, Jones had "unsuccessfully sought to introduce Marr's testimony in support of his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel." Jones V. State, supra at 916 fn. 2.

Because Jones could have--but did not--offer Marr's testimony in support of a claim of newly-discovered evidence of innocence back in 1986, he was procedurally barred from offering this testimony in support of his 1991 claim of newly-discovered evidence of innocence; the testimony simply did not meet the test for newly discovered evidence. Likewise, statements Schofield allegedly made

to Linda Atwater, Stanley Thomas and others who could have testified in previous hearings, but did not, may not be considered, cumulatively or otherwise. They are procedurally barred. <u>Jones v. State, supra.</u> Judge Johnson did not err in failing to weigh such procedurally-barred evidence.

In fact, it is the State's contention that not only does Jones have no valid basis to argue that Judge Johnson erroneously ignored any evidence, but that, in fact, Jones achieved the consideration of evidence and testimony that in truth was not newly discovered and to which Jones was not entitled to present at this hearing:

i.e., any evidence that Schofield allegedly confessed.

When this Court first announced a new standard for reviewing claims of newly-discovered evidence of innocence, this Court remanded this case to the circuit court for hearing to consider "all newly discovered evidence which would be admissible." Jones v. State, supra, 591 So.2d at 916. At such hearing, Jones attempted to introduce evidence from several witnesses that Schofield had confessed to the murder of a police officer. Such confessions were admissible—if at all—only under the declaration—against—penal—interest exception to the hearsay rule contained in § 90.804 (2) (c). A necessary prerequisite for the admission of such declarations is a "showing that the declarant is unavailable as a witness." Jones v. State, supra, 678 So.2d at 313. Although Schofield had been present at the courthouse during the hearing,

and although Judge Soud had advised the parties that declarations against interest were admissible only if the declarant is unavailable, Jones did not call Schofield as a witness. In fact, Jones did not even <u>contend</u>, much less actually demonstrate, that Schofield would refuse to testify if called as a witness. On the contrary, Jones' attorney stated:

There isn't a person in the courtroom here, Your Honor, that doubts what Mr. Schofield would say if he did take the stand. That's not a mystery. I mean we all know what Mr. Schofield will say if he takes the stand. He's going to say, it's a lie, I never said it, I never did it. We all know that. That's a given. You know, he's been working with Detective Housend for the past five days that I've been here. He has no fear of the State of Florida right now. He's working with them. I mean I have no doubt what Mr. Schofield will say on the stand, so I'm not going to call him and I don't think I need to call him.

Id. at 314. In short, Jones <u>admitted</u> that Schofield was <u>available</u> to testify (as Schofield's testimony in the instant hearing confirms—Schofield testified exactly as Jones' counsel at the 1992 hearing had predicted he would). Because Jones failed to demonstrate that Schofield was unavailable to testify, Judge Soud found that his alleged out-of-court statements regarding the murder of officer Szafranski were inadmissible. This Court affirmed, stating, "The burden was on Jones to establish that Schofield was unavailable and Jones failed to meet that burden. Consequently, we find that Schofield's alleged confessions are not admissible. . .

"Ibid.

Jones' present Schofie Id-confessed claim is in fact merely a

variation of his prior claim, and is procedurally barred on that basis alone. See Mills v. State, 684 So.2d 801 (Fla. 1996) (evidentiary hearing properly denied where Mills failed to demonstrate that his present claim was not just a variation of prior claims). In addition, testimony about Schofield's alleged confessions was determined at the first hearing not to be admissible evidence. It would seem that such testimony should have been equally inadmissible at this hearing unless Jones could present <u>newly-discovered</u> evidence, not discoverable previously in the exercise of due diligence, establishing that Schofield's alleged confessions would be admissible under the declarationagainst-penal-interest exception to the hearsay rule or otherwise. The only "new" evidence Jones has presented as to Schofield's availability to testify is the testimony of Schofield himself, which Jones presented at this hearing for the first time--five <u>years after having willfully declined to wresent it at the 1992</u> hearing. It is the State's contention that, since Jones obviously had the opportunity to call Glen Schofield as a witness at the prior hearing in 1992, it is not only reasonable, but necessary, to conclude that Glen Schofield's testimony is not newly discovered evidence which would now justify the consideration of alleged confessions of the kind ruled inadmissible in 1992.

The issue at this point is not simply the application of 590.804. This hearing was not a retrial of the case, it was a

proceeding to determine whether there should be a retrial sixteen years and several postconviction motions after the fact. The issue as to Schofield's alleged confessions is whether Jones deserves a second chance to present evidence which he could and should have presented in 1992. It is the State's contention that he does not and that Jones is attempting to engage in exactly the kind of piecemeal and repetitious litigation that the time limitations incorporated into 3.850 are supposed to prevent.

In any event, Judge Johnson certainly did not give inadequate consideration to testimony of witnesses who testified in 1992 and whose testimony was found by both Judge Soud and by this Court not to have been admissible evidence, and there is no merit to Jones' "cumulative effect" issue.

As noted previously, Jones argued in his prior appeal that Judge Soud evaluated the newly-discovered evidence individually instead of cumulatively. Jones also argued that Judge Soud erred by not considering procedurally-barred evidence. See Jones' Initial Brief on Appeal in case no. 81,346, at pp. 56-59. This Court found no merit to such claim then, and it has no more merit now.

Even if we did consider all the affidavits and testimony that have been proffered over the years, however, we would find that nothing about Jones' various offerings over the years is consistent except the bare allegation of Schofield's involvement. Depending

on which theory is being advance by Jones at any given moment, Schofield left Jones' apartment unarmed, or with a pistol, or with a rifle; Schofield shot officer Szafranski from the vacant lot to the north of Leo Jones' apartment building, or he shot officer Szafranski from the downstairs apartment, or he shot officer Szafranski from a kneeling position in the bushes on the south side of the apartment building; Schofield disposed of the rifle by returning it to Jones' apartment and replacing the rifle under Jones' bed (presumably while Jones was not looking, as he said nothing about this in his trial testimony), or he tried to give it away, or he threw it into the river, or he left it in Katherine Dixon's apartment; he escaped by running to a car parked right in front of the murder scene and hid there until the police left, or by running down Lee Street, or by running down Madison; he either ran down Madison alone, or with Marilyn Manning following him; he left the area in a rental car with Marilyn Manning and Roy Williams, or he left the area in a rental car without Marilyn; he either went to Georgia or he was still in town the next day trying to borrow money to leave.

The State would note that nowhere in his brief does Jones argue that the evidence admitted at this hearing suffices to establish his innocence or that Judge Johnson erred in concluding that the testimony presented at this hearing--particularly that of Roy Williams--is filled with inconsistencies, contradictions and

statements that are not true. The State would suggest that Jones feels compelled to argue the cumulativeness issue because even he realizes that his evidentiary presentation at this hearing was utterly non-persuasive. The problem, however, with any "cumulative" review is that Jones has never--and can never--explain or reconcile all the inconsistencies in the various theories of Schofield's guilt he has presented over the years. His evidence simply is utterly lacking in credibility, and the more one considers, the less credible his various theories become. There is no merit whatever in Jones' cumulative-evidence claim.

ISSUE III

EVEN ASSUMING THAT SCHOFIELD'S ALLEGED CONFESSIONS ARE NOT PROCEDURALLY BARRED, THEY ARE NOT ADMISSIBLE SUBSTANTIVELY UNDER THE RULES OF EVIDENCE

Jones complains here about Judge Johnson's refusal to consider Schofield's alleged confessions as substantive evidence of Jones' innocence. Just as he did in his appeal the 1992 hearing, Jones does not even attempt to argue that the rules of evidence allow such hearsay statements to be admitted and considered substantively; instead, he relies upon some perceived constitutional right to present such hearsay regardless of the rules of evidence.²³ The State will briefly analyze the state

In his footnote 52, Jones states that he has not included Schofield's 1990 "confession" to Stanley Willie because his affidavit was not accepted by the circuit court in 1992. In fact, Stanley Willie did not claim that Schofield confessed to him. See Exhibit A, footnote 1.

evidentiary rules, and then turn to Jones' Chambers²⁴ argument.

There are a number of exceptions to the hearsay rule. Many apply whether or not the declarant is available as a witness. These exceptions are set forth in § 90.803, Florida Stat. (1997). By contrast, the exceptions enumerated in § 90.804, including the exception for declarations against interest, are applicable only when the declarant is "unavailable," as defined in § 90.804 (1). Jones v. State, supra, 678 So.2d at 313. In the previous hearing, Jones never even tried to show that Schofield was unavailable. Id. at 313-14. In fact, he was not, as Jones' attorneys predicted in 1992, and as Schofield's testimony at the instant hearing plainly demonstrates. Thus, since Schofield is not "unavailable," his alleged out-of-court statements are not admissible under the declaration-against-penal-interest exception to the hearsay rule.

Schofield testified that he did not kill officer Szafranski and that he never has told anyone the contrary. His inconsistent statements are admissible—if at all—under §§ 90.608 and 90.614.25 However, such statements are admissible for impeachment; they are not substantively admissible. State v. Smith. 573 So.2d 306, 313 (Fla. 1990) ("There can be no question that evidence of a prior inconsistent statement offered as impeachment is admissible only

²⁴ <u>Chambers v. Missississi</u>, 410 U.S. 284, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d 297 (1973).

²⁵ The State adheres to its position, argued above, that any issue of Schofield's alleged confessions is procedurally barred.

for that purpose unless it is independently admissible."). Thus, as Judge Johnson found, testimony about Schofield's alleged confessions "are not independent proof of culpability of Glenn Schofield" (RI 145). This is a correct statement of law.

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